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1. THE NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN

1.1 Neighbourhood Development Plans were introduced by the 2011 Localism Act
to develop a community-led planning framework for future development. They
are about the use and development of land, guiding development proposals that
may be brought forward within the lifetime of the plan. The designated
Neighbourhood Area for the Brandon and Bretford Neighbourhood Plan is
shown on the adjacent Map 1.

1.2 This Neighbourhood Development Plan aims to make the parish of Brandon
and Bretford an even better place to live, now and for future generations. It
covers the period to 2031 which is consistent with the emerging Rugby Local
Plan which will eventually replace the adopted Rugby Core Strategy which
covers the period to 2026. The Neighbourhood Development Plan (The Plan)
will be subject to review at least every five years to ensure that it remains
consistent with the direction of the Plan Objectives, national and local strategic
planning policies.

1.3 The Plan represents a real opportunity for the community in the Parish of
Brandon and Bretford to decide how the Parish should evolve in the period to
2031. Policies within the Plan must be in general conformity with the strategic
policies of the Development Plan for Rugby Borough. The Plan must also have
regard to national planning policies and advice which are primarily set out in the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the national Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG).

1.4 The Development Plan for Rugby District comprises the following documents:

1 Rugby Borough Core Strategy 2011

1 Local Plan saved policies 2009

1 Warwickshire Waste Core Strategy 2013

1 Saved policies (on minerals) of Warwickshire Minerals & Waste Local Plan
2007.

Emerging Development Plan policy within the District of Rugby comprises:

1 Rugby Local Plan
1 Warwickshire Minerals Core Strategy

1.5 The Neighbourhood Plan will not consider the County wide issues of waste and
minerals as these are not considered to be appropriate matters for
Neighbourhood Plans to address in a local context.
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2.

BRANDON AND BRETFORD - HISTORY

HISTORY OF BRANDON

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

The Parish of Brandon and Bretford contains a wealth of history probably dating
back to Neolithic times (c3500BC) centred upon the supply of water from the
Avon which flows through the heart of the Parish. The earliest evidence of
human activity is in the field between Avondale Road and the river, where crop
marks, possibly dating to Neolithic times, are recorded by The Warwickshire
Historic Environment*. This monument is listed with other local historic sites
such as the bronze-age burial found during the building of the railway (1820s),
and the possible deserted medieval settlement in the village field.

*Source: http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/gateway/chr/herdetail.aspx?crit=&ctid=93&id=4747

Brandon Wood is a remnant of the ancient Forest of Arden. The name Brandune
(Domesday1086) probably originated from the burning of scrubland near the
river, hundreds of years previously, making the land suitable for people to settle
here.*

*Source: The Place Names Of Warwickshire by J.E.B. Glover (1936)

This settlement continued with land-ownership decided by inheritance or
marriage until 1066 when the Country was distributed by William the Conqueror
amongst his own invading countrymen. Unusually (one of the only two) Brandon
Manor was left in the charge of Thorkell, a Saxon. On his death Brandon Manor
was given to Geoffrey de Clinton, Chamberlain and Treasurer to King Henry I.

Brandon Castle, built in the mid-12" Century was acquired, via marriage, by
Norman De Verdon. It was attacked in 1265 by the Rebel Barons, under Simon
De Montfort, and largely destroyed. It was rebuilt in 1279 and was lived in until
1309.*

Source: Victoria County History, Warwick, Vol 6

The river Avon, which has always separated Brandon from its near neighbour
Wolston, has acted as a secure boundary 1 the nearest ford being at Bretford,
which provided safe housing for livestock when drovers arrived. Bretford also
had a charter for a livestock market, granted by Henry II. In C13th Bretford had
a gallows, erected by Nicholas de Verdon*, when the lord of the manor had the
authority to hold court and could mete out punishment including hanging.
Access to Bretford from Brandon and Coventry was via Gossey (or Gosset)
Lane. This major highway was al so
boundary at the triangle of grass known as the Cocked Hat i now it is a quiet
and utterly delightful walk.

Source: The Fortunes Of A Norman Family by Mark Haggar (2001)
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SRR e AT i
The bridge over the River Avon from Brandon to Wolston

2.6 The Avon was also a source of power for the various mills 7 flour, paper, wool
and silk T up to the short-lived development of an artificial silk mill shortly after
the Second World War for which skilled workers were brought in from Wales.
There have been mills in Brandon since before 1086, the last vestige of any mill
in the area i the mill stone i has been erected in the centre of Wolston to

commemorate the start of the year 2000*.
*Source: Brandon Silk Mill i Ghosts Of The 11" Green by Ann Langley

27 The railway came to Brandon in the 1820s,
was an engineering feat, redirecting the course of the river.

The railway bridge carrying the west coast main line from London to Birmingham.

2.8 The arrival of the railway meant local people could travel further afield for work
and pleasure. Brandon station enabled goods and livestock to flow in and out.



2.9 Likewise, tourists began to visit Brandon for its boating, swimming, paddling and
Tea Rooms.

2.10 The last local major land-owner was the Beech family* who bought Brandon
Wood and its buildings in 1825 and lived in Brandon Manor until the old shooting
lodge was rebuilt as a suitable country residence to become Brandon Hall. The
family also provided the Village School and Brandon Club for their estate

workers.
*Source: Victoria County History, Warwick Vol 6

2.11  When the Beech family left the Hall all their tenants were given their cottage
homes and the tenant-farmers given the opportunity to buy their farms.

2.12 The Brandon Estate adjoined Coombe Abbey Estate. Coventry Stadium (also
known as Brandon Stadium) was built on Beech land near to the border in 1926.
Around the speedway are traces of the older, rural life; farms, cottages, a
disused brickyard and nurseries. In the 1920s new homes were built along
Rugby Road and Speedway Lane on land belonging to the Beeches. These
mingled with the older houses marking another stage of development in
Brandon. The area also provided temporary wooden shacks for people fleeing
the Coventry Blitz. Planning permission to convert the shacks into houses in the
1950s/60s was given prior to the introduction of The Green Belt.

2.13  During the late 40s early 50s Brandon Lane provided sand and gravel extraction
(and subsequently in some parts land fill) providing material for the national
house building programme. Large lorries took extracted material away from
Brandon Lane and landfill material into the Brandon Lane sites. This put
pressure on Brandondés narrow village stre
edge of the road in Main Street. The junction of Brandon Lane/ Main Street/
Avondale Road saw collisions of heavy lorries with some serious accidents.
This led to the introduction of a one way system designed by the local police
and still in operation today. There is still a remnant of the sand and gravel days,
one of the businesses in Brandon Lane is a concrete batching plant.

2.14  However there have been benefits such as Brandon Marsh and Brandon Golf
Course which have provided recreational and conservation developments.

HISTORY OF BRETFORD
2.15 The Fosse Way

The original Roman line of the Fosse Way was diverted to the west in the Middle
Ages to its present crossing point in Bretford. The name of the village, first
recorded about 1100, is derived from the Old English bred ford, meaning "the
plank ford". The reference is probably to a plank footbridge or post marking the
ford across the River Avon, which preceded the bridge. The first record of the
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2.16

2.17

2.18

bridge is from 1279. In 1653 the bridge was in great decay and was repaired at
the cost of the county. The existing bridge was built in the C18th and is now a
Grade Il listed building.*

Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bretford & Mr J. Chatwin. Brandon, Bretford & Wolston History Group

The Fosse Way Bridge over the River Avon in Bretford

In the C12th a convent was located in Bretford founded by Geoffrey de Clinton,
and given to Kenilworth Priory. Later a hospital cum leper colony was
established. This hospital, with its chapel, was dedicated to the honour of St.
Edmund. It was almost certainly founded by the Turvilles of Wolston, as they
were its patrons throughout the fourteenth century.

In the C11th Bretford became an important market town. Nicholas de Verdon,
lord of the manor, obtained a special charter for a weekly market on Tuesday;
and his descendant, Theobald, had the power of life and death both at this place
and Brandon. Medieval Gallows were erected on the Fosse Way. The gallows
were an indicator of the Royal privileges belonging to Brandon Castle which he
occupied.*

* Source: The Fortunes Of A Norman Family by Mark Haggar (2001)

Following the Black Death in the 15th century Bretford declined almost
completely and never recovered. Bretford now consists of a few cottages by the
road, a pub, a farm and the bridge across the Avon.


https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bretford

3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

PRESENT DAY CHARACTER APPRAISAL OF THE PARISH

Brandon Village

The Parish forms a linear wedge of countryside to the south east of Coventry
stretching from the A45 in the west, A46 to the north, to the village of Bretford
in the east with the river Avon forming the southern boundary. Part of the
northern boundary adjoins the parishes of Binley Woods and Brinklow.

Within the Parish are the two villages of Brandon and Bretford. Brandon is the
largest village in the Parish and is centred upon the junction between the A428
and the junction with Main Street leading south to Wolston. To the north west of
the main village lies a small area of housing at the top of Brandon Hill which is
an integral part of Brandon village. In total Brandon comprises approx. 250
dwellings.

The village of Bretford is much smaller comprising of approx. 50 dwellings,
clustered around the junction of the A428 where it meets The Fosse Way and
then crosses the river Avon to the south of the village. Beyond the settlements
of Brandon and Bretford, the Parish is predominantly rural in character and is
dotted with individual houses and farms plus a small developed gypsy site along
Brandon Lane close to its junction with the A45.

Brandon is set in a gently undulating landscape with a rural approach from the
north, east and west. The south approach from Wolston crosses the River Avon
through a small area of open land between the two villages.

Brandon is not unduly prominent on most approaches due to the orientation of
roads and the mature landscaping, whilst the approach from Wolston is
dominated by the railway viaduct. The village remains strongly linked to the
countryside and has retained its character as a rural settlement, despite the
close proximity of the relatively large villages of Wolston and Binley Woods.

All approaches to the village are rural in character with fields, hedges and
mature trees. The village is not visible until the built part has been reached.

See Brandon Village Design Statement (VDS) page 6 & 7*.

*www.rugby.gov.uk/downloads/file/478/brandon_village_design_statement

Within the village the landscape remains important with a large amount of
prominent hedge planting forming boundaries adjacent to the roads that pass
through the village. The mature trees adjacent to the village present a soft
backdrop to the houses many of which back onto fields. Even in the more
densely developed parts of the village the mature trees beyond the settlement
edge are visible and play a key role in softening the character of the street
scene.

The centre of Brandon village is a designated conservation area with buildings
dating from the 16th century to the present day. A relatively large number of
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buildings were built in the latter part of the 20th century but the prevailing
character remains. The majority of pre 1900 buildings are listed. The vast
majority of the building stock is in good order and virtually all the buildings are
occupied.

Brandon village conservation area and village boundary

3.9 There are distinctive architectural styles from different periods set in a non-
uniform pattern of development.

Timber framed buildings with whitewashed brick infill and / or thatch.
Cottage style.

Red brick is the dominant material in the village.

Victorian gothic style.

Georgian three storeys with a rhythmic window pattern.

Barn conversions

Modern farmhouse style buildings.

@™"0oo0oTy

Thatched cottages and timber framed buildings
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